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8 CHRISTINE DEETHS 

9 	 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT,' 

10 	 EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

11 CHRISTINE DEETHS, an individual, 	Case No.: 

12 	 Plaintiff(s), 	 COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES; 

13 	V. 	
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

14 LUCILE SALTER PACKARD 	
CLAIM 1: 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL AT 	 CLAIM 2: Monell-Related Claims 
15 STANFORD, a California corporation; 

JOHN STIRLING, Jr., individually; 	CLAIM 3: Invasion of Privacy 
16 CEDARS-SINAI MEDICAL CENTER, a 

California non-profit corporation; 	CLAIM 4: Slander 
17 CHRISTOPHER HARM, individually; 

BAKERSFIELD MEMORIAL 
18 HOSPITAL, a California corporation; 

ANTHONY THOMAS, individually; 
19 LEGACY BEHAVIORAL SERVICES, 

INC., a California corporation; TARA 
20 CRUZ, an individual; EDDIE CRUZ, an 

individual; and DOES 1 through 50, 
21 inclusive, 

22 	 Defendants, 

23 	Plaintiff, CHRISTINE DEETHS, ("Plaintiff," "Christine Deeths" or 
24 "Deeths") respectfully represents and alleges as follows: 
25 	1. 	At all times relevant to this Complaint, Plaintiff was a resident of the 
26 COUNTY OF KERN, California. Plaintiff is the adoptive mother of minors, R.D. 
27 and T.D. At the time the incidents giving rise to the causes of action in the 
28 Complaint occurred, R.D. was 4 and T.D. was 6 years old (fictitious names are used 
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1 herein to protect the minors' privacy). Plaintiff, Christine Deeths, is a California 

2 Medical Board licensed physician, practicing family medicine in the County of 

3 I Kern. 

	

4 
	

2. 	At all times applicable herein, the COUNTY OF KERN was and is a 

5 public entity ("Kern County"). 

	

6 
	

3. At all times applicable herein, the KERN COUNTY DEPARTMENT 

7 OF HUMAN SERVICES ("DHS") was and is a subdivision or entity of the 

8 COUNTY OF KERN. 

	

9 
	

4. 	At all times applicable herein, the KERN COUNTY CHILD 

10 PROTECTIVE SERVICES ("CPS") was and is a subdivision or entity of KERN 

11 COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES. 

	

12 
	

5. 	At all times applicable herein, social worker JASON P. MONTEZ 

13 ("Jason Montez" or "Montez") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern 

14 County and DHS. 

	

15 
	

6. 	At all times applicable herein, social worker RAUL M. RUIZ ("Raul 

16 Ruiz" or "Ruiz") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern County and DHS. 

	

17 
	

7. 	At all times applicable herein, social worker TAMARA WILLIAMS 

18 ("Tamara Williams" or "Williams") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern 

19 County and DHS. 

	

20 
	

8. 	At all times applicable herein, social worker ROBIN ACKLING 

21 ("Robin Ackling" or "Ackling") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern 

22 County and DHS. 

	

23 
	

9. 	At all times applicable herein, social worker LUIS JUAREZ ("Luis 

24 Juarez" or "Juarez") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern County and 

25 DHS. 

	

26 
	

10. At all times applicable herein, social worker VANESSA FRANDO 

27 ("Vanessa Frando" or "Frando") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern 

28 County and DHS. 
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1 
	

11. At all times applicable herein, social worker KENISHA RAY 

2 I ("Kenisha Ray" or "Ray") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern County 

3 land DHS. 

4 
	

12. At all times applicable herein, social worker WANDA WALLACE 

5 ("Wanda Wallace" or "Wallace") was an officer, agent, and/or employee of Kern 

6 I County and DHS. 

7 
	

13. At all times applicable herein, public health nurse, MONIQUE 

8 MORELAND ("Monique Moreland" or "Moreland") was an officer, agent, and/or 

9 employee of Kern County and DHS. 

10 
	

14. At all times applicable herein, public health nurse, SUSAN 

11 MCARTHUR ("Susan McArthur" or "McArthur") was an officer, agent, and/or 

12 employee of Kern County and DHS. 

13 
	

15. Collectively, the persons identified in paragraphs 2 through 14, above, 

14 shall be referred to, herein, as "County," or "County Social Workers." These 

15 persons are not defendants in this action as they have already reached a accord with 

16 Plaintiff. They are identified herein purely for contextual purposes. 

17 
	

16. At all times applicable herein, Defendant LUCILE SALTER 

18 PACKARD CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL AT STANFORD ("Stanford") was, on 

19 information and belief, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the 

20 State of California and is and was qualified to do business in California. 

21 
	

17. At all times applicable herein, Defendant JOHN STIRLING, JR. ("Dr. 

22 Stirling") was an individual residing, on information and belief, in the County of 

23 Santa Clara. 

24 
	

18. At all times applicable herein, Defendant CHRISTOPHER HARRIS 

25 I ("Dr. Harris") was an individual residing, on information and belief, in the County 

26 of Los Angeles. 

27 
	

19. At all times applicable herein, Defendant CEDARS-SINAI MEDIAL 

28 I CENTER ("Cedars-Sinai") was, on information and belief, a non-profit corporation 
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organized and existing under the laws of the State of California and is and was 

2 qualified to do business in California. 

	

3 
	

20. At all times applicable herein, Defendant ANTHONY THOMAS ("Dr. 

4 Thomas") was an individual residing, on information and belief, in Kern County. 

	

5 
	

21. At all times applicable herein, Defendant BAKERSFIELD 

6 MEMORIAL HOSPITAL ("Bakersfield Memorial Hospital") was, on information 

7 and belief, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

8 California and is and was qualified to do business in California. 

	

9 
	

22. At all times applicable herein, Defendant LEGACY BEHAVIORAL 

10 I SERVICES, INC., d/b/a LEGACY FAMILY SERVICES, (hereinafter, "Legacy 

11 Family Services") is and was, on information and belief, a California corporation, 

12 with its principle place of business located in Bakersfield, California. On further 

13 information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant Legacy Family Services is 

14 an entity that certifies, trains, and provides foster parents. 

	

15 
	

23. At all times applicable herein, Defendant TARA CRUZ ("Tara Cruz" 

16 or "Tara") was an individual residing, on information and belief, in Kern County, 

17 and as a foster parent for Legacy Family Services. 

	

18 
	

24. At all times applicable herein, Defendant EDDIE CRUZ ("Eddie Cruz" 

19 or "Eddie") was an individual residing, on information and belief, in Kern County, 

20 and as a foster parent for Legacy Family Services. 

	

21 
	

25. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such basis allege that each of 

22 the above named parties was and is the agent, employee, principal, employer and/or 

23 co-conspirator of each of the remaining defendants and/or vice versa. In addition, 

24 Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such basis allege that the defendants 

25 named hereinabove, and each of them, are responsible in some manner for the 

26 occurrences herein alleged, and that each of the above named defendants conspired 

27 with, and/or aided and/or abetted and/or jointly collaborated with each of the 

28 remaining defendants and identified persons in committing the acts herein alleged. 
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1 
	

26. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such basis allege that each of 

2 I the above named defendants and settling co-conspirators was acting under color of 

3 I law in committing the acts herein alleged, and that in doing the things herein alleged 

4 I defendants, and each of them, were acting within the course and scope of their 

5 I duties as employees or agents of each other. 

6 
	

27. Plaintiffs are ignorant of the true names and capacities of those 

7 Defendants sued herein as DOES 1 through 50, and for that reason have sued such 

8 Defendants under such fictitious names. Plaintiffs reserve their rights, and will seek 

9 I leave of Court to amend this Complaint to identify said Defendants when their 

10 identities have been ascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon 

11 allege, that each of the fictitiously named Defendants was in some manner liable 

12 and legally responsible, in that their conduct caused the damages and injuries set 

13 forth herein. 

14 
	

28. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such basis allege that at all 

15 I relevant times, Defendants, and each of them, were the knowing agents and/or alter 

16 egos of one another, and that Defendants directed, ratified, and/or approved the 

17 conduct of each of the other Defendants, and each of their agents or employees, and 

18 are therefore vicariously liable for the acts and omissions of their co-defendants, 

19 their agents and employees, as more fully alleged herein. Moreover, all of the 

20 Defendants and identified persons agreed upon, approved, ratified, and/or conspired 

21 together to commit all of the acts and/or omissions alleged in this Complaint. 

22 
	

COMMON ALLEGATIONS 

23 
	

29. In or about May 2006, Plaintiff Christine Deeths, M.D., adopted R.D., 

24 a child who at birth tested positive for methamphetamine and marijuana 

25 intoxication. Dr. Deeths had made prior arrangements with R.D.'s birth mother, and 

26 was able to take custody of R.D. when she was 10 hours old. 

27 
	

30. Perhaps as a result of R.D.'s contact with harmful and illegal drugs 

28 I during gestation, or due to some other inherited or congenital condition(s), R.D. has 
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I always needed specialized medical attention and care. In her first month of her life, 

I she had recurrent projectile vomiting and poor weight gain. In her second month, 

I R.D. suffered from fits of violent coughing, chronic congestion, and continued 

I projectile vomiting. Christine Deeths, though herself a medical doctor, placed 

I R.D.'s healthcare in the hands of other medical professionals and scrupulously 

I followed their advice. 

31. In March 2007, R.D. was hospitalized for breathing problems and was 

I administered respiratory and breathing treatments and antibiotics. R.D.'s doctors (at 

all times, herein, meaning doctors other than Christine) recommended that R.D. be 

provided a diet excluding wheat, corn, and soy protein, and that R.D. be 

administered various medications. In April 2007, R.D. needed hospitalization 

again. At that point, R.D. was diagnosed with pneumonia, organism unspecified, 

I and a functional disorder of the stomach - all diagnoses were made by licensed 

I medical care providers other than Christine Deeths. 

32. In May 2007, R.D. suffered episodes of hives, and stridor, which 

I hospital records show was diagnosed as possibly being related to food allergies. She 

was taken to the emergency room and treated with epinephrine and steroids. R.D.'s 

doctor's directed that R.D.'s exposure to wheat and corn be limited. 

33. In July 2007, R.D. was having recurrent intermittent episodes of 

I shortness of breath and respiratory distress. Physicians diagnosed R.D. with 

hypoxia. R.D. required oxygen to maintain appropriate oxygen saturation while in 

the hospital and tested gram-positive for pneumonia. She was intubated for a 

bronchoscopy; the doctors at the hospital suctioned mucous plugs and prescribed 

antibiotics. 

34. Genetic testing for cystic fibrosis was conducted in July 2007. The 

I results report revealed: 

the heterozygous presence of a known deleterious 
mutation, G5'42X (Kerem, B., et al., 1990, Proc. Natl. 
Acad. Sci USA 87: 8447-8451) on exon 11 of the CFTR 
gene. 
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The patient is a carrier of the G542X mutation in the 
CFTR gene which may be contributing to the symptoms 
for this individual. No other mutations, novel variations,
deletions, or duplications were detected. This result 
reduces the likelihood this patient is affected with CF. 
However, approximately 2% of patients with classic CF 
will have onTy one mutation detected." 

A pediatric consult was recommended for work up for cystic fibrosis due to the 

equivocal sweat chloride test and the genetic cystic fibrosis mutation. 

35. R.D.'s pulmonary problems continued, spurring R.D.'s doctors to 

continue evaluation of whether R.D. suffered from cystic fibrosis. In November 

10 2007, she required high flow oxygen in another hospitalization. Doctors at the 

11 hospital stated that two sweat chloride tests were equivocal, however, the pediatric 

12 pulmonologist "felt the child may have CF." Hospital physicians conducted 

13 diagnostic tests and were able to rule out other possible diagnoses which may have 

14 been causing R.D.'s symptoms. 

15 
	

36. In December 2007, R.D. underwent a comprehensive evaluation by 

16 U.C.L.A. Pediatrics/Gastroenterology specialist, Mariam Ischander, M.D., to 

17 determine whether R.D. had cystic fibrosis. Dr. Ischander reported that R.D. had 

18 sweat chloride test results of 47. She wrote in her report, that "as according to new 

19 studies that sweat chloride of 40 and abOve in infants is almost invariably associated 

20 with a diagnosis of CF." 

21 
	

37. Dr. Ischander further stated that "Patient has symptoms of cystic 

22 fibrosis in form of chronic cough and failure to thrive,[8] also yellow mucous plugs 

23 found in airways by bronchoscopy done in protland [sic], Patient has tracheomalacia 

24 diagnosed by bronchoscopy at CHLA recently, patient has mild obstructive sleep 

25 apnea per polysomnogram done recently at moonlight sleep lab." [Dr. Ischander 

26 reviewed the results of sleep study]. Doctors at UCLA pulmonary medicine 

27 recommended that because of R.D.'s symptoms, the sweat chloride test result, plus 

28 one mutation for cystic fibrosis: "there is a possibility that the patient has cystic 
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1 fibrosis or at least patient is a carrier but has CFTR dysfunction, so at this point it is 

2 I safer to treat patient from pulmonary standpoint as having cystic fibrosis and will 

3 I observe for improvement." The UCLA report also states: "At present, per 

4 I pulmonology, it is still likely she has Cystic Fibrosis ...." In addition, Christine took 

5 I R.D. to Stanford in order to obtain a second opinion. Stanford concurred with 

6 I UCLA's treatment, indicating that even if the diagnosis was incorrect, the treatment 

7 I was not harmful. 

	

8 
	

38. The UCLA reports further stated: "The patient [R.D.] continues to have 

9 failure to thrive." UCLA also requested a panel "to assess for celiac disease." 

10 UCLA also diagnosed R.D. with tracheomalacia: "She also has other factors that are 

11 likely contributing to her chronic cough including moderate to severe 

12 tracheomalacia and a previous bronchoscopy showing a possible aberrant vessel 

13 compressing the trachea." 

	

14 
	

39. Based upon the comprehensive analysis of UCLA 

15 I Pediatrics/Gastroenterology and the recommendations of specialist Miriam 

16 Ischander, M.D., R.D. began a significant course of treatment which is common for 

17 children with cystic fibrosis, including compression vests with medication, oxygen 

18 treatments, nebulizer treatments, Pulmozyme, Zithromax as an anti-inflammatory 

19 used in cystic fibrosis treatment, enzymes, and other medications. Her oxygen 

20 saturation was to be maintained with oxygen supplementation. R.D. appeared to 

21 respond positively to this treatment. 

	

22 
	

40. Thus, well into Rebecca's second year, medical professionals from a 

23 I variety of institutions observed that R.D. was a chronically sick child, and, after 

24 having run their own independent tests, diagnosed R.D. with conditions, including, 

25 failure to thrive, tracheomalacia, and atypical cystic fibrosis. Though some 

26 uncertainty may have existed, regarding whether R.D. truly had cystic fibrosis, 

27 R.D.'s doctors recommended that R.D. be treated as if she had cystic fibrosis. 

28 Despite R.D.'s doctors' vigilance and care, R.D. continued to experience medical 
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1 I problems well into her third and fourth years of life. 

	

2 
	

41. In January, 2008, R.D. was intubated at Mercy Southwest Hospital and 

3 I transported by ambulance to UCLA. She was discharged with diagnoses of 

4 I "Pneumonia, and Cystic fibrosis," and after stabilization, was discharged with 

5 instructions for vest therapy, enzyme treatments, and other medications. 

	

6 
	

42. R.D. was hospitalized again in February 2008 and March, 2008, for 

7 I pulmonary issues, including lack of sufficient oxygen at night. By 

8 November/December 2008, R.D. required hospitalization again for pneumonia and 

9 I dehydration. In December, 2008, R.D.'s cough had continued to worsen and she 

10 was vomiting three times per day. R.D. was discharged with a diagnosis of likely 

11 viral pneumonia. Plaintiff was directed by doctors to continue respiratory treatments 

12 to help R.D. 

	

13 
	

43. In February, 2009, R.D. was hospitalized again with blood oxygen 

14 I desaturation to the low to mid 80's. This was well below her suggested baseline of 

15 94%. After stabilization, UCLA discharged her with instructions and a prescription 

16 for Pulmozyme, vest treatments, and digestive medications/enzymes. R.D.'s 

17 discharge diagnosis was likely viral pneumonia. R.D. was continued on home 

18 medications with Creon instead of Pancreatase as per her doctor's instructions. 

	

19 
	

44. By February 2009 R.D. was starting to show good growth. R.D.'s 

20 I doctors believed the improvement was likely due to the treatments they ordered and 

21 the pancreatic enzyme supplementation. But, according to fecal fat tests she was 

22 still having malabsorption problems. 

	

23 
	

45. In June, 2009, R.D. was admitted to the hospital due to vomiting, 

24 I diarrhea, and poor feeding. At the hospital she was diagnosed by doctors, other than 

25 Christine Deeths, and treated for dehydration, gastroenteritis, and cystic fibrosis. 

26 Plaintiff was directed to continue the home regimen including enzyme treatments. In 

27 August, 2009, R.D. was again admitted to the hospital for vomiting and her oxygen 

28 saturations had again dropped into the 80 percentile range. 
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I 
	

46. In November, 2009, with R.D.'s growth gain, Cedars-Sinai was able to 

2 I reduce her enzyme levels as per R.D.'s gastroenterologist's instructions. However, 

3 I R.D. was started on Miralax due to constipation. Doctors at Cedars-Sinai continued 

4 I R.D. on the pulmonary vest treatment and pulmonary medications. 

	

5 
	

47. In January, 2010, R.D. was hospitalized again for worsening 

6 I pneumonia. The orders/discharge diagnoses (again by medical doctors other than 

7 Christine Deeths) were cystic fibrosis, pseudomonas, pneumonia, poor growth, 

8 tracheomalacia. 

	

9 
	

48. In March, 2010, R.D. was admitted for diagnostics/complaints of 

10 I nighttime hypoxia and cystic fibrosis exacerbation. Sinus surgery was performed, 

11 and R.D.'s hypoxia resolved. The hospital discharged R.D. on pulmonary 

12 medications and enzymes of new formulation, Creon, Miralax, Probiotics, and 

13 medications/supplements. All of this was done by licensed medical professionals 

14 other than Christine Deeths. 

	

15 
	

49. In August, 2010, R.D. was again hospitalized for dehydration, 

16 I pneumonia, and pulmonary manifestations. On discharge, she was diagnosed with 

17 pneumonia. Plaintiff was instructed to continue the currently prescribed home 

18 medication regimen, including Creon. 

	

19 
	

50. In October of 2010, an endoscopy conducted at Cedars- Sinai showed 

20 I chronic esophagitis and gastritis along with lymphocytic nodules. She was also 

21 diagnosed with microscopic colitis and was given a presumptive diagnosis of celiac 

22 disease. 

	

23 
	

51. On November 23, 2010, R.D. was seen regarding a prolonged 

24 I escalation of her regular pattern of coughing. Medical doctors other than Christine 

25 Deeths directed that her compression vest time be increased and that she be given 

26 Pulmozyme. She had green nasal congestion and was gagging and coughing at that 

27 time. 

28 
	

52. Thus, by late November 2010, doctors other than Christine had 

- 
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1 diagnosed R.D. with conditions, including but not limited to, failure to thrive, cystic 

2 fibrosis, and constipation. In addition, though R.D. had not been formally 

3 diagnosed with Celiac Disease, doctors other than Christine, continued to 

4 recommend that R.D. be treated as if she were (i.e. R.D. was to avoid gluten 

5 products). Similarly, though R.D. was not formally diagnosed with Lymphocytic 

6 Colitis, until approximately December 29, 2010, she continued to be treated as if 

7 1 she were. 

	

8 
	

Kern County Social Services Gets involved 

	

9 
	

53. On or about January 1, 2011, R.D. was brought into the emergency 

10 room at Bakersfield Memorial Hospital as she had blood oxygen desaturating as low 

11 as 81%. Diagnoses at admission included persistent cough, cystic fibrosis, and rule 

12 out acute sinusitis. R.D. would spend approximately the next two weeks at 

13 I Bakersfield Memorial Hospital. The admitting doctor was Dr. Thomas. Dr. Thomas 

14 and Plaintiff had a negative interaction in that Dr. Thomas mistook R.D. for a 

15 patient that had been treated by both Plaintiff and Dr. Thomas for cystic fibrosis in 

16 2010. Dr. Thomas began asking Plaintiff about her husband (Plaintiff is not 

17 married). They argued about his misperception. The argument escalated into a very 

18 contentious situation. Dr. Thomas appeared agitated and extremely angry at 

19 Plaintiff. 

	

20 
	

54. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, soon after 

21 R.D. was admitted, medical professionals at Bakersfield Memorial Hospital 

22 contacted Dr. Harris, who falsely relayed information suggesting that R.D. had 

23 never been diagnosed with having cystic fibrosis, and that Christine was possibly 

24 subjecting R.D. to unnecessary medical treatment. 

	

25 
	

55. R.D. was treated at Memorial Hospital for approximately two weeks. 

26 Christine stayed at the hospital with her child for the entire time, dealing with a 

27 number of different doctors every day. Due to the limited equipment and expertise 

28 at Bakersfield Memorial, Christine requested that R.D. be transferred to specialists 
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I at Cedar Sinai, but to no avail. R.D. began having nightmares and behavioral 

2 problems at Memorial Hospital. Christine was not sleeping and was extremely 

3 fatigued. Both she and Dr. Thomas were angry with each other and had various 

4 disagreements throughout this time. Some of these were loud. As her relationship 

5 with Dr. Thomas deteriorated, Plaintiff noticed that the tone and attitude of the 

6 medical professionals at Bakersfield Memorial Hospital began to change for the 

7 worse. Doctors and medical social workers would reprimand and lecture Christine, 

8 telling her that she needed to remain active in her role as a parent, but to refrain 

9 from acting as physician to R.D. Christine was very aware of her role, and at all 

10 times acted appropriately. She never acted as R.D.'s physician. 

11 	56. After approximately two weeks of stay, doctors at Bakersfield 

12 Memorial Hospital told Christine that R.D. should be transferred to Lucille Packard 

13 Children's Hospital (Stanford). Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon 

14 alleges that Dr. Thomas and/or other Bakersfield Memorial staff contacted Dr. 

15 Harris at Cedars Sinai, as well as Dr. John Stirling at Stanford, and falsely told them 

16 that Christine was suffering from Munchausen's Syndrome By Proxy. (This is a 

17 controversial diagnosis of a disorder where a parent purportedly induces real or 

18 apparent symptoms of a disease in a child. There is serious doubt in the medical 

19 community whether this is even a real condition, and even in circles that believe it 

20 to be a "condition" there is agreement that it is exceedingly rare.) Dr. Thomas and 

21 the other medical professionals at Bakersfield Memorial Hospital did not inform 

22 Christine that the main purpose for R.D.'s transfer to Stanford was so that 

23 defendant, Dr. John Stirling, Jr., a so called "expert" in Munchausen's Syndrome By 

24 Proxy, could begin an investigation of Plaintiff Deeths. Nobody at Bakersfield 

25 Memorial Hospital made a report of suspected child abuse to Kern County CPS, 

26 prior to said transfer. 

27 	57. On January 13, 2011, R.D. was discharged from Bakersfield Memorial 

28 Hospital and transferred to Stanford Hospital for further treatment and evaluation. 
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1 The discharge summary falsely and maliciously reported that mother "repeatedly did 

2 not let nursing staff do their job such as adjust 02 settings per MD guidelines, take 

3 vitals at appropriate times .... She also stated he [Dr. Harris] had made 

4 I recommendations regarding 02 sat parameters and management which was untrue 

5 after speaking with him." In fact, the records at Bakersfield Memorial Hospital 

6 I appear to have been altered to support these false allegations. These accusations, 

7 which were not divulged to Plaintiff, were entirely made up. The nursing notes at 

8 the hospital show the continued recommendation that sufficient oxygen be provided 

9 to maintain oxygen saturation at greater than 95% while R.D. was awake. 

10 Moreover, the contemporaneous nursing and pediatrician notes contain no entries 

11 showing that Plaintiff prevented or otherwise impaired oxygen management, or that 

12 she "unilaterally and secretly altered oxygen levels." On information and belief, 

13 Plaintiff alleges that Dr. Thomas, Dr. Harris, Dr. Stirling, and other DOE 

14 defendants, conspired to falsify the medical treatment history at Bakersfield 

15 Memorial Hospital in order to support their malevolent plan to paint Christine as 

16 someone suffering from MSBP, and ultimately to make a false referral to Kern 

17 County CPS. 

18 
	

58. It was very late in the evening when Plaintiff and her child arrived at 

19 I Stanford. Both Christine and R.D. were exhausted from their lengthy ordeal at 

20 I Bakersfield Memorial. Early in the morning, on January 14, 2011, the attending 

21 doctor, Nancy Yuan, threw on the lights to R.D.'s room, waking Christine, and 

22 announced that a child abuse investigation had commenced. At approximately 

23 noon, defendant Dr. John Stirling, Jr. arrived at R.D.'s room and introduced himself 

24 to Christine as a child abuse specialist at Stanford. He informed Christine that 

25 Bakersfield Memorial Hospital had filed a child abuse report against her, and that 

26 Kern County CPS had become involved. This later turned out to be not true. 

27 

	

	
59. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Dr. Stirling 

is employed by Stanford as a child abuse consultant, and is a member of Stanford's 
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1 I Suspected Child Abuse and Neglect (SCAN) Team. On further information and 

2 belief, Plaintiff alleges that Stanford holds Dr. Stirling out to the public as a so 

3 I called "forensic child abuse expert." 

	

4 
	

60. In or about 2007, Dr. Stirling published an article, entitled "Beyond 

5 I Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy: Identification and Treatment of Child Abuse in a 

6 Medical Setting." (See, Exhibit "A") In said article, Dr. Stirling purports to 

7 I provide a definition for "Munchausen syndrome by proxy," a method of diagnosing 

8 the so called condition, and a recommended "treatment," including, where deemed 

9 appropriate, involvement of CPS, placement of the child in another family setting 

10 permanently, and/or prosecution and incarceration of the parent, thereby 

11 "eliminating access to the child." More or less, that is exactly what Dr. Stirling set 

12 out to do to Christine Deeths - even though there was no evidence to support his 

13 witch hunt. 

	

14 
	

61. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, on January 

15 20, 2012, Dr. Stirling called together a meeting of the SCAN team, R.D.'s primary 

16 care doctor, and various Stanford medical staff. Some of these medical 

17 professionals had little or no involvement in the actual treatment of R.D. Plaintiff is 

18 further informed and believes and thereon alleges that Dr. Stirling called the 

19 meeting together in order to build up a coalition of medical professionals willing to 

20 go along with Dr. Stirling's plan to falsely accuse Christine of suffering from 

21 Munchausen's Syndrome by Proxy. On further information and belief, Plaintiff 

22 alleges that Dr. Stirling told the medical professionals gathered, that Christine 

23 Deeths was improperly guiding the course of R.D.'s medical treatment, and that 

24 there was nothing really wrong with R.D. Plaintiff is informed and believes and 

25 thereon alleges that, when Dr. Stirling was satisfied that he had built a consensus, 

26 Christine was "invited" to join the group. 

	

27 
	

62. The medical staff that Dr. Stirling gathered together took turns 

28 denouncing Christine, telling her that R.D. did not have all of the ailments doctors 
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1 I had previously diagnosed, that Christine was somehow responsible for such 

2 1 misdiagnoses, and that Christine was lying about R.D.'s past medical treatment in 

3 I order to obtain specialized medical treatment. Christine explained to these doctors 

4 I the true nature of R.D.'s various diagnoses and of R.D's extensive medical history, 

5 but nobody appeared interested in listening to her - they had already been poisoned 

6 by Dr. Stirling's diatribe. Notwithstanding, Christine agreed to follow the medical 

7 1 advice of R.D.'s doctors. The meeting concluded with Dr. Stirling stating that so 

8 I long as Plaintiff followed all of the doctor's recommendations, "it's not like CPS is 

9 going to swoop in and take [R.D.]" Dr. Stirling knew this was untrue. In fact, based 

10 on his extensive experience with CPS he knew the opposite was true, i.e. that 

11 shortly after he contacted CPS, county agents would unlawfully "swoop in and 

12 take" Christine's children - which is exactly what happened. 

13 
	

63. Despite Christine's agreement to comply with doctors' advice, Plaintiff 

14 I is informed and believes and thereon alleges that later the same day, a medical 

15 social worker at Stanford, presumably at Dr. Stirling's direction, secretly filed a 

16 suspected child abuse report with Kern County CPS. 

17 
	

64. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the following 

18 I day, on January 21, 2011, still having conducted no reasonable investigation, Dr. 

19 Stirling prepared a report on behalf of the SCAN team, wherein Dr. Stirling 

20 I concocted numerous lies and misrepresentations that supported his malicious desire 

21 to have Plaintiff Deeths made an example of, as a high-profile MSBP child abuser. 

22 Among others, Dr. Stirling maliciously and falsely represented that the Stanford 

23 team had conclusively determined that R.D. did not have cystic fibrosis; that R.D. 

24 should discontinue pancreatic enzymes and be given no enzymes in outpatient care; 

25 that the Stanford team determined R.D. does not have Celiac Disease; that R.D. 

26 does not have or meet the criteria for lymphocytic colitis; that R.D. did not have 

27 encorpesis or constipation; and that there was "[n]o objective evidence of serious 

28 pulmonary symptoms at any time." None of this was true, and Dr. Stirling knew it. 
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1 I Moreover, Dr. Stirling, as a licensed medical doctor, knew or should have known 

2 I that a critical distinction must be drawn between the diagnosis and treatment of 

3 I conditions, i.e., that the lack of a clear diagnosis does not, in and of itself, proscribe 

4 treatment consistent with such diagnosis. Yet, no such distinction was drawn - and 

5 I intentionally so. 

	

6 
	

65. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Dr. Stirling 

7 I actively suppressed the true findings of the Stanford team in order to continue his 

8 bad faith campaign to manufacture a case for MSBP, make an example of Christine, 

9 and to enhance his reputation as a so called "child abuse expert." 

	

10 
	

66. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, in order, to 

11 I hide these egregious misdeeds, Dr. Stirling, and/or others acting in concert, directed 

12 that Plaintiff not receive a copy of R.D.'s medical records from Stanford, despite her 

13 numerous requests, and despite Plaintiff's statutorily guaranteed right of access to 

14 said records. (See, Pers. v. Farmers Ins. Group of Cos. (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 813, 

15 I 815; Cal. Health & Safe Code § 123100; Cal. Evid. Code § 1158.) As a consequence 

16 of Dr. Stirling and Stanford's bad faith refusal to provide the medical records, as 

17 well as Dr. Stirling's very serious misrepresentations as mentioned above, Plaintiff's 

18 children would ultimately be seized by Kern County CPS and a juvenile dependency 

19 case would be opened based on false information. As a further consequence of said 

20 I refusal to produce Stanford's medical records, Christine Deeths was disabled from 

21 effectively defending herself against Kern County CPS' s fraudulent juvenile 

22 dependency petition, which contributed to the unnecessarily prolonged detention of 

23 Plaintiff's children. Stanford's records would not be produced to Plaintiff until on 

24 or about July 6, 2011 - well after Plaintiff's children were seized, and after Plaintiff 

25 had been coerced into entering a plea deal. Said bad faith retention of records, and 

26 consequent lack of necessary information compelled Plaintiff to enter into a nob 

27 contendre plea in response to the fraudulent Juvenile Dependency Petition, as 

28 explained in greater detail below. 
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1 
	

Warrantless Removal and Detention 

2 
	

67. On or about January 23, 2011, R.D. was discharged from Stanford. At 

3 I discharge, Christine was instructed to continue following up with R.D.'s primary 

4 care doctors, administer pancreatic enzymes as needed, and continue compression 

5 I vest treatment. 

6 
	

68. On or about January 27, 2012, after R.D. was discharged from 

7 I Stanford, social worker Tamara Williams and public health nurses, Monique 

8 Moreland and Susan McArthur, contacted Christine. Christine gave a detailed 

9 I account of the events that transpired at Stanford, the instructions she had been 

10 provided upon discharge, and of her intentions to continue following all 

11 recommendations of R.D.'s physicians. The meeting concluded with social worker 

12 Williams indicating that the child abuse investigation would very likely be wrapped 

13 up and that no further meetings appeared to be necessary. 

14 
	

69. Two weeks after discharge from Stanford, R.D. became sick again. 

15 Christine followed up with R.D.'s regular physician, who started R.D. on a course 

16 of antibiotics and steroids. When R.D.'s condition did not improve, R.D.'s 

17 I pediatricain recommended that R.D. be taken to the emergency room at San Joaquin 

18 Hospital, where R.D. was admitted on February 11, 2011 for pulmonary oxygen 

19 desaturation. 

20 
	

70. After doctors at San Joaquin Hospital determined that R.D.'s condition 

21 I had stabilized to the point that she should be discharged, a disagreement arose 

22 between R.D.'s doctors, regarding whether the child should be sent home with 

23 oxygen. Because R.D. continued to exhibit signs of pulmonary distress, the doctors 

24 at San Joaquin Hospital recommended sending R.D. home with oxygen. However, 

25 Dr. Harris unreasonably refused to authorize the use of oxygen at home, threatening 

26 to discontinue care if R.D. is sent home with oxygen. Plaintiff is informed and 

27 believes and thereon alleges that Dr. Harris maliciously manufactured said dispute 

28 in order to provide fodder for the CPS investigation, which had not yet closed. Due 
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1 to the disagreement, the doctors at San Joaquin Hospital suggested transferring R.D. 

2 I to Dr. Harris's care at Cedars Sinai. However, on information and belief, Plaintiff 

3 I alleges that Dr. Harris would not authorize the transfer, leaving R.D. and her doctors 

4 at San Joaquin with a dangerous predicament. 

	

5 
	

71. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, based on Dr. 

Harris's obdurate refusal to release R.D. with oxygen, a telephone conference was 

7 1 held, on or about February 17, 2011, between Dr. Harris, Dr. Stirling, Dr. Senar (the 

8 doctor at San Joaquin Hospital), Dr. Robinson (a pulmonologist at Stanford who 

9 had not even seen R.D.), and possibly others. On information and belief, Drs. Harris 

10 and Stirling in an attempt to poison R.D.'s treating physicians, poisoned R.D. 

11 treaters with their false MSBD theories. 

	

12 
	

72. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, on or about 

13 I February 18, 2011, social worker Tamara Williams contacted Dr. Stirling. On 

14 further information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that Dr. Stirling, represented to 

15 social worker Williams that (1) R.D. merely has asthma; (2) that he wanted to take 

16 R.D. off of the pulmozyme and enzymes; (3) that Christine was not to be trusted 

17 because she had lied to them before; (4) that, while at Stanford, Christine would 

18 turn up R.D.'s oxygen levels; (5) that Christine may have body image issues; (6) 

19 that Christine believes that to keep R.D. sick is to keep her healthy; and (7) and that 

20 R.D. had never, in her life, been intubated. Each said statement was utterly false, 

21 and Dr. Stirling knew that at the time the representations were made yet he was 

22 highly motivated to obtain CPS involvement with Christine so that he could push 

23 his theories against a high profile target and further enhance his professional 

24 reputation and notoriety. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that 

25 Dr. Stirling reached an understanding with social worker Williams that R.D. and her 

26 brother, T.D., should be seized from Plaintiff's care and turned into wards of the 

27 state so that Dr. Stirling could further experiment with the children without 

28 Christine's involvement. 
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1 	73. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges that, 

2 following the meeting, on February 18, 2011, Dr. Stirling sent an email to social 

3 worker Williams and Dr. Harris, stating, in relevant part: 

4 	 Chris, I wanted to thankyou for taking the lead in this 
process. I had a couple of thoughts after our talk: 

As we talk to CPS again, we need to be very clear on 
6 

	

	 exactly what we think is wrong with mom's treatment of 
[R.D.I. If we're ambiguous or contradictory, we'll lose a 

7 	 necessary ally. 

8 

9 	 [R.D.] does appear to indeed have a pulmonary condition, 
to the extent that we believe her oxygen requirement is 

10 	 real. 
We need to be 100% sure that it is real. This can only be 

11 	 determined in the hospital setting, and it'll be hard there. 

12 	 On the other hand, the enzymes and Miralax are not 
essential in anyone's estimation, and neither is there any 

13 	 reason to maintain a celiac diet or probiotic regimen. 

14 	 I believe we will have a hard time arguing that Mom's 
concerns about hypoxia are invalid as long as our 

15 

	

	 esteemed colleagues have taken them so seriously, and 
hypoxia, however mild, is reliably observed in the hospital 

16 

	

	 setting. Herpractice of maintaining [R.D.] on Creon, 
gluten-free diet, etc is easier to argue as being against 

17 	 medical advice... 

18 	 I'd suggest we do as suggested yesterday and eliminate the 
enzymes, laxative, and diet restrictions in house, observing 

19 

	

	 closely, and plan weekly follow up with Dr. Self to 
monitor symptoms and weight in the outpatient setting. 

20 

	

	 We can reasonably argue, as you have that the 
pulmozyme and HTS are not indicated (at least), and that 

21 	 an observation without them should be undertaken. Again 

22 	
the reliability of outpatient observations is questionable. 

If Mom disagrees, and demands a transfer, we can ask that 
23 

	

	 she go to Cedars or to Packard, but nowhere else. At 
LPGH, I'd ask that she be put on a GenPeds ward (because 

24 

	

	 of the multisystemic nature of her complaints and to keep 
a broader focus). At present, of course, this can only be a 

25 

	

	 request. At least we can track her and inform her next 
caregivers. If she refuses to let us share info, that's a black 

26 	 mark in her column. 

27 	 Again, let's concentrate on the harm to the child, and be 
sure we've done everything we can to make sure we're not 

28 	 making it worse. 
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1 

2 
74. Plaintiff is informed and believes that on February 24, 2011, a Team 

3 
Decision Meeting (TDM) was held by phone between Tamara Willaims, Monique 

Moreland, Dr. Harris, Dr. Stirling, Dr. Thomas, Susan McArthur, Barbara Blaine, 

6 
Kristy Powers-Stacy, and Joy Earnest. Notably, Dr. Senar, the doctor from San 

Joaquin Hospital, was not in attendance. Nor, was Dr. Self, who had seen R.D. that 

8 
very day. Nor, for that matter, was Dr. Conrad, the pulmonologist who had seen 

R.D. throughout her stay at Stanford. In contrast, none of the doctors in attendance 

10 at said meeting had seen R.D. in over a month. Plaintiff is informed and believes 

11 and thereon alleges that the participants agreed that a concerted effort must be made 

12 
to compile a list of "unequivocal" yet false reasons for seizing Plaintiff's children. 

13 
On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that said participants spun and shared 

14 
such falsehoods as: (1) that R.D. had come to Lucille Packard from Bakersfield 

Memorial with long history of Cystic Fibrosis, but that genetic tests came back 

16 
negative; (2) that R.D. never had constipation and exhibited no abdominal 

17 
symptoms at the hospital; (3) that Plaintiff uses a compression vest for punitive 

18 
purposes; (4) that Plaintiff would not allow medical staff to do their job at San 

19 Joaquin; (5) that R.D. was healthy and being mistreated; and (6) that R.D. had never 

20 
been intubated in her life. Each misrepresentation was made with knowledge of its 

21 
falsity at the time made, or with reckless disregard for the truth thereof, and in a 

22 
setting where each of the participant knew that the foreseeable consequences of 

23 
executing their fraudulent plan included the removal of Plaintiff's children. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes that when Social Worker Williams asked Dr. 
24 

25 
Thomas, Dr. Harris, and Dr. Stirling whether they felt that R.D. was at risk and 

26 
needed to be removed, all three "emphatically agreed yes." 

75. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that, at said meeting, Dr. 
27 

28 
Stirling knowingly repeated the same lies he had earlier perpetrated, and others, 

including, (1) that genetic tests ruled out the possibility of cystic fibrosis; (2) that 
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1 I while at Stanford, Christine would turn the oxygen machine back on, after doctors 

2 I had shut it off; (3) that R.D. did not have documented failure to thrive; (4) that 

3 I Christine needed psychotherapy and R.D. needed play therapy; and (5) that R.D. 

4 I had never been intubated. 

	

5 
	

76. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Dr. Thomas, 

I who was still angry with Plaintiff, also specifically misrepresented, among others, 

7 I that: (1) no medical records supported Plaintiff's statement that R.D. suffered from 

8 severe failure to thrive in her first two years; (2) R.D. had numerous tests for Cystic 

9 Fibrosis which were negative; (3) Plaintiff restricted nurses from treating R.D.; (4) 

10 that he had witnessed Plaintiff use the compression vest for punitive purposes; (5) 

11 that R.D. never had failure to thrive; and (6) that R.D. had never been intubated. 

	

12 
	

77. Plaintiff is also informed and believes and thereon alleges that Dr. 

13 I Harris falsely claimed that, (1) R.D. did not need digestive enzymes; (2) Christine 

14 was improperly writing prescriptions for enzymes; (3) Plaintiff was poisoning 

15 R.D.'s mind and self concept; (4) the pulmozyme, hypertonic saline, broncodilator, 

16 and vest were all supposed to be discontinued prior to R.D.'s admission at San 

17 Joaquin Hospital; (5) R.D. was missing school as a result of excessive medical 

18 treatment; (6) Christine was using R.D. as some sort of scapegoat; and (7) that R.D. 

19 had never been intubated. 

	

20 
	

78. Dr. Stirling, Dr. Harris, Dr. Thomas, and each of them, supplied the 

21 I aforementioned false statements with knowledge of their falsity at the time made, or 

22 with reckless disregard for the truth thereof. Each said misrepresentation was 

23 supplied with the bad faith intention of inducing reliance thereon by CPS workers, 

24 with the foreseeable consequence of separating Plaintiff from her children, under 

25 color of state law. Indeed, Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges 

26 I that Dr. Harris, echoing the sentiments expressed in Dr. Stirling's outrageous 

27 February 18, 2011 email, indicated the "need to send [mother] away," cautioning 

28 that, "[we] don't want any equivocation or doubt in court documents," and the need 
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1 to place Plaintiff's children with a "reliable caretaker." 

	

2 
	

79. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the meeting 

3 I participants, including Dr. Thomas, Dr. Harris, Dr. Stirling, Tamara Williams, 

4 I Monique Moreland, and Susan McArthur, reached an agreement that Plaintiff's 

5 I children should be removed - without a warrant or other court order - and that the 

6 I reasons advanced in court documents should be uniform and unequivocal - even 

7 I though they were untrue. 

	

8 
	

80. After the above mentioned "Team Decision Meeting," to which 

9 I Christine was not invited, Tamara Williams called Christine. Christine asked when 

10 the CPS referral would be "wrapped up," as previously indicated. Social worker 

11 Williams responded that, "I am still gathering records and trying to prove that you 

12 have not done anything to R.D.," and disclosed that not all of the medical records 

13 had yet been received. 

	

14 
	

81. The following day, on Friday, February 25, 2011, at approximately 

15 I 4:00 p.m., Social Worker Tamara Williams, accompanied by Detective Eddy and 

16 Detective Menendez of the Bakersfield Police Department, unlawfully seized R.D. 

17 and T.D. from Christine's home, without a warrant or court order. Exigent 

18 I circumstances for removal did not exist as there existed no reasonable basis for 

19 believing that either R.D. or T.D. were in imminent danger of suffering death or 

20 serious bodily injury within the time it would take to obtain a warrant. This 

21 warrantless seizure occurred after Defendants and each of them dealt with Plaintiff 

22 and her children for over a month and held a number of meetings where they 

23 discussed and planned the unlawful seizure of Plaintiff's children. As was their 

24 regularly established custom and practice, police and CPS agents waited until 

25 Plaintiff had left home for the day before they descended on the family's home and 

26 snatched the children from the loving care of their nanny. When the nanny 

27 attempted to reach Plaintiff and let her know what horrible things were happening at 

28 home, the children's nanny - Aurelia Cruz - was directed by Social Worker Tamara 
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1 Williams to cease such efforts. Ms. Cruz was threatened with jail if she made any 

2 further attempt to contact Christine. Police and CPS workers also threatened to take 

3 Ms. Cruz's own eight (8) year old child with R.D. and T.D. to the Jamison 

4 Children's Center, if she did not cooperate. 

5 	82. At the time of the children's seizure, R.D. was doing well and appeared 

6 to be healthy, as noted by Dr. Self, the child's pediatrican, on February 24, 2011, 

7 just one day prior to the seizure. 

8 	CPS's Predictable Fraud Upon the .Juvenile Court 

9 	83. Following said unlawful seizure, on March 2, 2011 at 9:35 a.m., social 

10 worker Jason P. Montez filed two juvenile dependency petitions on behalf of T.D. 

11 and R.D., falsely alleging they came within the protection of Welfare and 

12 Institutions Code § 300. Specifically, Montez alleged that R.D. was at risk under 

13 subsections (a), (b), (c), and (i), and that T.D. was at risk under subsections (a) and 

14 (b). The allegations set out in the petition are false, despite having been verified by 

15 social worker, Jason P. Montez, under penalty of perjury; and, he knew at the time 

16 he verified the petition that the statements contained therein were false either 

17 directly or by omission of critical exculpatory facts. Or, he didn't care whether the 

18 allegations were true or false, and made no effort, himself, to find out or otherwise 

19 investigate the truth of the matters stated, thereby demonstrating a reckless or 

20 callous indifference to the rights of Plaintiff and of his duty to tell the truth. 

21 Moreover, as mentioned above, despite having had well over a month to investigate 

22 the CPS referral, CPS workers, including Montez, did not even have all of R.D.'s 

23 medical records - nor had they bothered to review the records they did have. Drs. 

24 Stirling, Harris, and Thomas all knew that it was the regularly established custom 

25 and practice of Kern County social workers and Bakersfield police to seize children 

26 from their family homes without a warrant, and to fabricate evidence in order to 

27 support the filing of a juvenile dependency petition. They also knew that this is 

28 exactly what would happen when they made their false reports to CPS. 
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84. At the time the Juvenile Dependency Petitions were filed, there was no 

I reasonable and/or articulable evidence giving rise to a reasonable suspicion that 

I R.D. or T.D. had been abused, neglected, or abandoned by Plaintiff, or that R.D. or 

I T.D. were in imminent danger of abuse, neglect or abandonment by Plaintiff. 

Moreover, and perhaps more importantly, the petition, attested to under penalty of 

perjury, contains false statements of fact which were, on information and belief, 

known by Jason Montez to be false at the time he made them. Nonetheless, in 

8 keeping with the regularly established customs and usages of Kern County, he made 

9 the statements with an absolute disregard for their truth or falsity, and with an 

10 absolute disregard for the substantial rights of plaintiff. 

11 
	

85. On March 2, 2011, Jason Montez filed a Social Study - Detentional 

12 I report ("Detention Report"), setting forth the purported "evidence" supporting the 

13 false allegations contained in the Juvenile Dependency Petition mentioned above. 

14 On information and belief Jason Montez signed the report and submitted it to the 

15 juvenile dependency court with the intention that it be accepted into evidence and 

16 relied on by the court in rendering its decisions. In the March 2, 2011 Detention 

17 Report filed in advance of the Detention hearing on March 2, 2011, Jason Montez 

18 intentionally suppressed evidence that R.D. and T.D. were, in fact, not suffering 

19 from medical trauma, and not in imminent danger of serious physical harm or 

20 illness. Social Worker Montez further suppressed evidence that Plaintiff did not 

21 misrepresent R.D.'s various diagnoses to doctors or misrepresent prior medical 

22 treatments received by the child, R.D. Montez also intentionally and knowingly 

23 suppressed exculpatory evidence, including, without limitation, the true findings of 

24 the Stanford medical team, DHS and CPS records showing that Dr. Stirling, Dr. 

25 Harris, Dr. Thomas, and Social Worker Defendants had collaborated with one 

26 another to drum-up "unequivocal" justifications for detention to be advanced to the 

27 Court, and numerous medical records in CPS and DHS possession showing that 

28 R.D. had been diagnosed with atypical cystic fibrosis and carried a gene that could 
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1 I possibly explain R.D.'s symptoms. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon 

2 I alleges that the Juvenile Petition and the Detention Report sought to fulfill the 

3 I Defendants' intent to maintain a united front against Plaintiff before the Juvenile 

4 I Court, due to the uncertain nature of R.D.'s true medical condition and the lack of 

5 I any true evidence of wrongdoing. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and 

6 I thereon alleges that Social Worker Defendants fabricated evidence, cast Plaintiff in 

7 a false light, and overstated the severity of the purported injuries to R.D. and T.D. in 

8 order to gain leverage against Deeths in any plea discussion down the road. 

	

9 
	

86. 	The above list is intended as exemplar in nature, and is by no means 

10 I intended to be exhaustive; it is illustrative only. There are numerous other lies set 

11 out in the Detention Report which were, on information and belief, inserted into the 

12 report solely for prejudicial effect, and irrespective of their lack of veracity. 

13 Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such basis allege that the lies and 

14 suppression of exculpatory evidence by Montez were undertaken with a malicious 

15 intent to injure Plaintiff, in that Jason Montez and the other investigating social 

16 workers, public health nurses, and doctors, including Dr. Stirling, Dr. Harris, and 

17 Dr. Thomas, were frustrated and angry with Christine because she questioned their 

18 methods, motivations, attitudes, unfounded accusations, and authority. 

	

19 
	

87. At the time the Juvenile Dependency Petitions were filed, Kern County 

20 I and DHS were in possession of no reasonable and/or articulable evidence giving 

21 rise to a reasonable suspicion that R.D. and T.D. were in imminent danger of abuse 

22 or neglect, or that Christine Deeths was suffering from Munchausen' s Syndrome by 

23 Proxy (another lie concocted by Defendants). 

	

24 
	

88. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that attorney, 

25 I Jennifer Feige, of the County Counsel's office for Kern County, signed the above 

26 referenced juvenile dependency petitions, certifying: "I have read and endorsed the 

27 following petition." At the time Jennifer Feige signed the juvenile petitions, she 

28 had a duty to learn of and disclose to Plaintiff all evidence favorable to Plaintiff, i.e. 
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1 I evidence that disfavors detention, including, but not limited to: (1) that Dr. Stirling 

2 I had made material misrepresentations concerning the findings of the Stanford 

3 I medical team; (2) that R.D.'s medical records contradicted the numerous lies of Dr. 

4 I Harris and Dr. Thomas, propagated at prior TDM's with social workers; (3) that 

5 I R.D. and T.D. had been removed without a warrant and in the absence of exigent 

6 I circumstances or parental consent; and (4) that prior to removal, Kern County CPS, 

7 I Dr. Stirling, Dr. Harris, and Dr. Thomas had conspired to advance a set of 

8 "unequivocal" yet false reasons supporting removal to the Court. Plaintiff was not 

9 aware of the suppressed evidence. 

10 
	

Events After CPS Involvement 

11 
	

89. After CPS intervention, on or about February 28, 2011 while in foster 

12 care for approximately three days, the social worker [unknown] directed the foster 

13 mother not to give Miralax to R.D. However, on March 3, 2011, the caretaker 

14 reported that R.D. was having constipation and that she gave R.D. Miralax per the 

15 pharmacist's instructions. On March 4, 2011, Dr. Rabizadeh, the gastroenterologist, 

16 stated that Miralax should be given as needed. On March 8, 2011, Dr. Schulte 

17 continued R.D. on Flonase. Dr. Harris continued her on Symbicort, and on Xopenex 

18 as needed. Dr. Rabizadeh continued her on Prevacid, continued the probiotic, and 

19 I discontinued Miralax. R.D.' s physician, Dr. Rabizadeh, recommended on March 

20 111, 2011, that the foster mother continue her gluten-free diet because the gluten free 

21 diet resulted in "significantly improved" symptomatology, and because she is 

22 "currently growing well and gaining weight. The above treatment, recommended by 

23 Dr. Rabizadeh, Dr. Schulte, Dr. Harris, and Dr. Self, were consistent with the type 

24 treatment provided to R.D. prior to CPS intervention, and contradicted Defendants' 

25 false allegation that "there was nothing wrong" with R.D. 

26 
	

90. Even Stanford's pulmonologist, Dr. Conrad, ultimately acknowledged 

27 I that R.D.'s medical history was significant and complicated and had resulted in 

28 prolonged hospitalizations because she tends to become "quite hypoxemic," i.e. that 
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1 a true pulmonary condition existed. Indeed, after R.D. was finally returned to 

2 I Plaintiff, Dr. Conrad ordered that Plaintiff continue monitoring R.D. with a pulse 

3 oximeter at night with periodic checks during the day - yet, the social worker 

4 I defendants ignored this information. Dr. Harris, paradoxically, also ordered that the 

5 I foster parents monitor R.D.'s oxygen levels. 

6 
	

91. Thus, despite engaging in dangerous experimentation with a small 

7 I child in an effort to gin-up evidence supporting their meritless and false accusations 

8 against Plaintiff, in the end, the Drs. Thomas, Harris, and Stirling had no choice but 

9 to return R.D. to essentially the same treatment she received prior to her unlawful 

10 seizure by CPS. 

11 
	

92. Yet, again predictably and in accordance with the well known and 

12 I regularly established customs and practices of Kern County CPS, Kern County 

13 employees, including public health nurses Moreland and McArthur, failed to apprise 

14 the Juvenile Court of the fact that R.D.'s health had deteriorated while in CPS care, 

15 and that, as a consequence, R.D. had been put back on her prior treatment regimen. 

16 Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that public health nurse 

17 Moreland and the remaining Social Worker, consistent with their well known and 

18 well established customs and practices, actively suppressed the fact that R.D.'s 

19 weight had dropped while in foster care, that R.D. was stooling blood due to lack of 

20 medication, and other indications that R.D. responded well to the treatment she 

21 received prior to CPS involvement, as part of defendant Moreland's effort to further 

22 the conspiracy to deprive Plaintiff of her civil rights and paint her as suffering from 

23 Munchausen's Syndrome by Proxy. 

24 
	

93. Meanwhile, both of Plaintiff's children found themselves in a dire 

25 situation upon placement in the foster home of Defendants, Tara and Eddie Cruz. 

26 Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Tara and Eddie Cruz had 

27 already adopted 4 children, had recently had their own biological child, and now 

28 saw two additional children placed in their care. Eddie and Tara Cruz were merely 
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1 foster parents and were not provided educational rights or the right to make medical 

2 I decisions on behalf of R.D. or T.D. 

	

3 
	

94. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants, Tara Cruz 

4 I and Eddie Cruz, began to treat R.D. and T.D. in a cruel and malicious manner. 

5 I Soon after they arrived, on information and belief, Tara and Eddie told R.D. and 

6 I T.D. that neither of the children would be returning home, because their mother, 

7 I Christine, had made R.D. sick. They also told R.D. and T.D. that the children would 

8 I be separated, permanently, because R.D. would stay in their home, but T.D. would 

9 ultimately be sent away, because he was an older Black child, and they did not like 

10 or want him. The other children in the Cruz home, some of whom took to beating 

11 and bullying T.D., followed their parents' bad example, and also made fun of and 

12 teased T.D. for being Black. 

	

13 
	

95. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that although 

14 I Eddie and Tara Cruz received money to take care of R.D. and T.D., they secreted a 

15 large portion of those funds for their personal gain, and did not provide the children 

16 basic items, like new clothing. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon 

17 alleges that both the Cruz defendants would complain about the costs of caring for 

18 R.D. and T.D. in front of them, even going so far as to inform the children whether 

19 payment from the County had yet been received. As a consequence, Plaintiff had to 

20 I purchase several articles of clothing, including shoes, and other household items for 

21 the children while in the Cruz home. Meanwhile, Plaintiff's children began to 

22 exhibit strange behaviors that were not seen before, like the hoarding of food. 

23 Plaintiff alleges, on information and belief, that, over time, both R.D. and T.D. 

24 became ostracized in the Cruz home and would be treated as second class citizens. 

	

25 
	

96. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendants 

26 Eddie Cruz and Tara Cruz, were informed by County employees of the allegations 

27 against Christine, and that R.D. had been treated for cystic fibrosis, but that the CPS 

28 believed nothing was wrong. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that Tara 
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Cruz began to collaborate with the social workers and public health nurses in 

2 presenting false evidence to the juvenile court by falsely reporting that R.D. was 

3 thriving in her care, had no pulmonary problems, and was eating fine. In reality, 

4 I R.D. was rapidly losing weight due to the failure of the Cruz defendants to provide 

5 the right foods to R.D. and to properly monitor a medically fragile child. Both Tara 

6 and Eddie Cruz stepped outside of their role as foster parents, to take on an 

7 investigative role for CPS and the other Defendants herein. 

	

8 
	

97. In addition, Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, 

9 throughout the pendency of the juvenile dependency case, Tara Cruz and Eddie 

10 Cruz, published to numerous individuals that they were foster parenting Plaintiff's 

11 children, and of the allegations against Plaintiff in the juvenile dependency case. 

12 Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Tara and Eddie Cruz 

13 published said private facts to individuals, including, without limitation, nurses at 

14 Mercy Southwest Hospital, Eddie's co-workers, other foster parents, and even to a 

15 crowd at a foster parent orientation. As a result, Plaintiff suffered humiliation and 

16 embarrassment when Plaintiff's patients and other acquaintances asked her about 

17 what they had heard through Eddie and Tara Cruz. 

	

18 
	

98. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges that Tara 

19 Cruz even shared details concerning the juvenile dependency case with a local 

20 pharmacy, and instructed the pharmacy to not release any records to Plaintiff 

21 Deeths, and that if any attempt was made, to contact Tara with that information. 

	

22 
	

99. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Tara also 

23 went to several hospitals, including, without limitation, Mercy Southwest Hospital 

24 and Bakersfield Memorial Hospital, and had R.D.'s medical records changed to 

25 reflect the Cruz contact information for R.D., rather that the child's mother, 

26 Christine Deeths. However, Tara would always leave Plaintiff's private insurance 

27 II information intact on the forms. As a consequence, Plaintiff's insurance was 

28 charged for medical treatment. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Tara Cruz left 

- 
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1 I Plaintiffs insurance information, because she did not want to go through Medi-Cal, 

2 the insurance program that CPS had secured. All of the foregoing was highly 

3 I invasive of Plaintiff's reasonable expectations of privacy, totally nonconsensual, 

4 I fraudulent and unlawful. 

	

5 
	

100. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant 

6 I Tara Cruz did not stop there, but also enrolled T.D. in a school of her choice, by 

7 I similarly changing T.D.'s educational records and misrepresenting facts to school 

8 officials. This, too, constituted an invasion of Plaintiffs privacy and derogation of 

9 I her substantial rights. 

	

10 
	

101. In, or about, March 2011, Tara and Eddie Cruz stopped allowing 

11 I Christine's children to speak with Christine altogether. Said prohibition 

12 contravened the juvenile court's orders and violated Plaintiff's associational rights. 

13 Tara stopped allowing phone calls after Plaintiff learned from T.D. that Tara and 

14 Eddie had threatened to make him eat cat feces for dinner. Plaintiff is informed and 

15 believes and thereon alleges that Tara, in order to suppress further disclosure of 

16 mistreatment in the home, prevented T.D. and R.D. from speaking with their 

17 mother. 

	

18 
	

102. After enduring eighty (80) days of separation from her children, the 

19 various Defendants' venomous accusations and misrepresentations before the court, 

20 the anxiety caused by Stanford's risky experimentation with R.D.'s health, and the 

21 constant threats of losing her children forever, Christine was left in an exhausted 

22 and emotionally vulnerable state. In addition, her children were acting out in foster 

23 care, including an incident where T.D. smashed a car window with a rock. Plaintiff 

24 was frightened because T.D. did not have a history of violence, and additionally was 

25 regressing in school. Well aware of Plaintiff's vulnerable state, and mindful of its 

26 inability to prove its juvenile petition with admissible evidence, Kern County 

27 offered Plaintiff a way out of their system, whereby Plaintiff would agree to plead 

28 no contest to an amended petition under WIC §300(b), and, in exchange, Plaintiffs 
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visitation with R.D. time would be increased from 2 hours a week to "liberal," 

meaning as much as the foster parent was willing to supervise. All other allegations 

would be dropped, and the section 300(b) allegation, stipulated to, was reduced to 

I bare bones, stating in substance, that Plaintiffs' children were at risk due to Plaintiff 

having some kind of undefined anxiety disorder, and that Plaintiff had 

I misrepresented R.D.' s symptoms such that R.D. endured unnecessary medical 

7 I treatment. Plaintiff Deeths felt she had no choice but to accept the deal offered - 

8 this seemed like the only way she could get her children back (who were themselves 

9 suffering) out of the system. The constant threats that Christine would never be able 

10 to see any of her children again if she maintained her innocence, as well as the 

11 rapidly deteriorating mental state of her children, left Christine in a position where 

12 she could not afford to put herself and her children through the rigors of trial. 

13 Christine was coerced into accepting the "deal" offered by CPS, even though there 

14 was never any legal or evidentiary basis for the petition to begin with, nor, for that 

15 matter, in the heavily amended petitions she eventually pled no contest to. 

16 
	

103. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that it is the well 

17 I known and widespread practice and/or custom of Kern County, and Kern County 

18 CPS to set forth allegations in Juvenile Dependency Petitions against parents 

19 claiming violations of WIC § 300, regardless of whether or not there is any 

20 reasonable and articulable evidence to support the claims. Plaintiff is further 

21 informed and believes and thereon alleges that it has been the policy, practice and/or 

22 custom of Kern County to overstate or "pad" the allegations in the Juvenile 

23 Dependency Petitions in order to coerce parents into accepting a plea deal down the 

24 road in exchange for the return of their children - even when the 'padded' 

25 allegations are totally untrue and lacking in any merit. Plaintiff is further informed 

26 and believes and on such basis alleges that in their daily practices Drs. Stirling, 

27 Harris, and Thomas work regularly with CPS and Social Services agent who remove 

28 children from the care of their parents and from their family homes. Through that 
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1 I experience, Plaintiff is informed and believes and on such basis alleges that Drs. 

2 I Striling, Thomas, and Harris knew, or had reason to know of the widespread and 

3 I regularly established customs, practices, and usages of CPS and Kern County social 

4 I workers as described in greater detail hereinabove. 

	

5 
	

104. The only information the parties and the Juvenile Court had from 

6 I Stanford was essentially the letter from Dr. Stirling and the Delivered Service Log 

7 I entry of a conference call between Dr. Stirling and the social workers. As described 

8 and alleged herein, Dr. Stirling misrepresented the true findings of the Stanford 

9 team, which did not find that Plaintiff had done anything wrong, much less 

10 deserving of having her children unlawfully removed and taken hostage. At the time 

11 he made the misrepresentation he knew, or should have known based on his 

12 extensive experience with CPS that Kern County CPS and its social workers would 

13 violate the rights inuring to the benefit of Plaintiff. 

	

14 
	

105. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, based on the 

15 nature of Dr. Stirling, Dr. Thomas, and Dr. Harris's work, each of them was well 

16 I acquainted with the customs and practices of CPS agencies across the state, 

17 including those of Kern County, and therefore knew that the actions taken by the 

18 County Defendants as described hereinabove, were likely to occur as a natural and 

19 foreseeable consequence of these doctors' acts of malfeasance. 

	

20 
	

Withholding of Medical Records: Stanford 

	

21 
	

106. As mentioned above, pursuant to Dr. Stirling's orders, Stanford 

22 withheld R.D.'s medical records, despite several requests. It was not until July 6, 

23 2011, after the May 16, 2011 settlement conference where the no contest plea was 

24 entered, that Stanford finally produced R.D.'s records. 

	

25 
	

107. Those records show that Stanford, Dr. Stirling and the above identified 

26 Social Workers misrepresented and concealed the true findings of the Stanford 

27 medical team. In fact, the "unnecessary" medical and pharmacological treatments 

28 that were alleged by the Department were found to be necessary by the Stanford 
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1 team. R.D. was to be continued on the compression vest treatments twice a day upon 

2 I her release from Stanford and the GI consult recommended that R.D. continue on 

3 I pancreatic enzymes. 

	

4 
	

108. Said misrepresentations are material, in that Plaintiff would not have 

5 I agreed to a plea deal, had the Department and Dr. Stirling not misrepresented the 

6 I conclusions of Stanford's team of experts and concealed the true findings of the 

7 I experts at Stanford. Christine Deeths would not have done so, because these 

8 documents showed that Christine was complying with Stanford's recommendations 

9 at the time her children were seized, and had that she in fact had not done anything 

10 wrong. 

	

11 
	

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

	

12 
	

FOR VIOLATION OF FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

	

13 
	

COUNT 1 

14 (Fourteenth Amendment - Familial Association, Privacy, Warrantless Seizure 

15 of Child and Unlawful Detention; By Plaintiff Against Dr. Stirling; Dr. Harris; 

	

16 
	

Dr. Thomas, Stanford, Cedars-Sinai, Bakersfield Memorial Hospital; and 

	

17 
	

DOES 1 through 50, inclusive 

	

18 
	

109. Plaintiff realleges, and incorporates herein as if set forth in full, all of 

19 the preceding paragraphs above. 

	

20 
	

110. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the right to 

21 be free from unreasonable searches and seizures and/or any unjustified separation 

22 from one's children is a right that is guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment to 

23 the United States Constitution. This right is so "clearly established" such that a 

24 reasonable social worker and/or police officer in defendants' situation would know 

25 it is unlawful to remove a child from the care, custody, and control of its parents or 

26 to question, threaten, examine, or search a child in the absence of exigent 

27 circumstances without first obtaining a warrant to do so. 

	

28 
	

111. Commencing on February 25, 2011, and continuing to the present, 
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1 County Defendants, Police Defendants, Dr. Stirling, Dr. Harris, Dr. Thomas, 

2 Stanford, Cedars-Sinai, Bakersfield Memorial Hospital, and DOES 1 through 50, 

3 inclusive, were acting under color of state law when they acted, or knew and agreed 

4 I and thereby conspired, to unlawfully remove, detain, question, threaten, examine, 

5 I investigate, and/or search R.D. and T.D. Defendants did so without proper 

6 I justification or authority, and without probable cause, exigency, or court order. (See 

7 Mabe v. County of San Bernadino (2001) 237 F.3d 1101). Further, the actions of 

8 Defendants were taken with deliberate indifference to Plaintiffs rights. 

	

9 
	

112. Defendants, and each of them, voluntarily collaborated, acted in 

10 concert, and maliciously conspired with the Kern County CPS and its social workers 

11 to violate the civil rights of the Plaintiff, including violation of Plaintiff's rights 

12 found in the Due Process Clause under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United 

13 States Constitution, by, but not limited to, removing, detaining and continuing to 

14 detain, R.D. and T.D. from the care, custody, and control of their mother, Christine 

15 Deeths, without exigent circumstances, and without providing adequate notice or an 

16 opportunity to be heard. 

	

17 
	

113. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that these 

18 I defendants voluntarily collaborated with and participated in the various actions 

19 undertaken by Kern County CPS and its social workers to ensure the warrantless 

20 seizure of R.D. and T.D., and their removal from Plaintiff's care. These defendants, 

21 I and each of them, knew or should have known that Plaintiff's constitutional rights 

22 would be violated, inasmuch as there was no evidence that Plaintiff was putting 

23 R.D. in imminent danger of serious bodily injury or death - or any other danger for 

24 that matter. The acts of these defendants, and each of them, were wrongful and 

25 I unlawful, and they knew it. Indeed, any government agent faced with similar 

26 circumstances would have known that it was wrongful and unlawful to seize R.D. 

27 and T.D., or to falsely cause their seizure, from the care of Plaintiff under the 

28 circumstances then present. 
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1 
	

114. The aforementioned acts of Defendants, and each of them, were 

2 I undertaken knowingly, wilfully, and maliciously with the intent to harm Plaintiff, or 

3 I alternatively with a conscious disregard of Plaintiff's substantive rights, and did in 

4 fact result in severe harm to Plaintiff in an amount according to proof at trial. 

5 
	

115. As a direct and proximate result of these Defendants' violations, and in 

6 I accordance with 42 U.S.C. Section 1983, Plaintiff's civil rights have been violated 

7 in that she has suffered, and will continue to suffer, damages, including but not 

8 limited to, physical and/or mental anxiety and anguish, as well as to incur attorneys 

9 fees, costs and expenses in the underlying case and in this matter, as authorized by 

10 42 U.S.C. section 1988 in an amount not yet ascertained, all of which shall be 

11 shown according to proof at trial. 

12 
	

116. The wrongful conduct of Dr. Stirling, Dr. Harris, Dr. Thomas, Stanford, 

13 I Cedars-Sinai, Bakersfield Memorial Hospital, and DOES 1 through 50 as herein 

14 alleged was intentional, done with malice, and with a conscious disregard for the 

15 rights of the Plaintiff, and as a result of this despicable conduct, Plaintiff is therefore 

16 entitled to recover punitive damages from said Defendants only in an amount 

17 commensurate with the nature of the Defendants wrongful acts and the amount of 

18 the individual Defendants' wealth. 

19 
	

COUNT 2 

20 (Fourteenth Amendment - Familial Association / Right to Be Free From Acts of 

21 
	

Dishonesty in Juvenile Court Proceedings, i.e. Perjury, Fabrication of 

22 
	

Evidence, Suppression of Exculpatory Evidence; By Plaintiff 

23 
	

Against Dr. Stirling, Dr. Harris, Dr. Thomas, and DOES 1 through 50) 

24 
	

117. Plaintiff realleges, and incorporate herein as if set forth in full, all of 

25 I the preceding paragraphs above. 

26 
	

118. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that at all times 

27 I relevant herein, there existed a clearly established due process right not to be 

28 I subjected to false accusations on the basis of false evidence that was deliberately 
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fabricated by the government, such that a reasonable agent in Defendants' situation 

2 would know it is unlawful to lie, fabricate evidence, and/or suppress material 

3 exculpatory evidence in court reports or any other document filed with the juvenile 

4 court to influence judicial decisionmaking. 

	

5 
	

119. In fact, Defendants, and each of them, had the affirmative and self 

6 evident duty to be truthful, accurate, and complete in providing information which 

7 they knew, or had reason to know would be repeated and treated as evidence in 

8 I petitions, reports, and documents submitted to a sovereign Court with power to 

9 adjudicate substantial rights, including parental rights, and to refrain from using 

10 improper and deceptive means to obtain judicial sustention of recommendations 

11 seeking to disparage Plaintiff's liberty interests. 

	

12 
	

120. Dr. Stirling, Dr. Harris, Dr. Thomas, and DOES 1 through 50, knew or 

13 should have known that by presenting false allegations and evidence to CPS, and 

14 conspiring to gin-up an "unequivocal" set of reasons for removing Plaintiff's 

15 children from her care, would lead to the deprivation of Plaintiff's civil rights. Said 

16 I doctor defendants also knew or should have known, by virtue of their work as 

17 medical professionals, that the information they provided to CPS workers would 

18 ultimately be relied upon by the Juvenile Court in adjudicating substantial rights of 

19 parties, including parental rights. Said Defendants, like any reasonable person, 

20 knew or should have known that Plaintiff had a constitutionally protected right not 

21 to be lied about in such consequential judicial proceedings. 

	

22 
	

121. In doing the things alleged hereinabove, Defendants, and each of them, 

23 voluntarily collaborated, acted in concert, and conspired to violate the above 

24 identified rights of the Plaintiffs, including violation of Plaintiffs' rights found in the 

25 Due Process Clause under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States 

26 Constitution by, but not limited to, presenting false allegations, false or coerced 

27 testimony, fabricated evidence, and/or suppress exculpatory evidence, before the 

28 Juvenile Court, thereby violating Plaintiff's rights found in the First, Fifth and 
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1 I Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and breaching their duty 

I to Plaintiff Deeths. 

	

3 
	

122. In so doing, Defendants, and each of them, were acting under color of 

4 I state law. They did these things without proper justification or authority. Further, 

5 I Defendants' actions were taken with deliberate indifference to Plaintiffs' due 

6 I process rights, and in conscious disregard of Plaintiffs' right to not be lied about by 

7 I government agents in any court proceeding where substantial rights were at stake. 

	

8 
	

87. Defendants, and each of them, maliciously conspired to violate the civil 

9 rights of Plaintiffs, including violation of Plaintiffs' rights found in the Fourteenth 

10 Amendment of the United States Constitution by the use of coercion and duress to 

11 obtain evidence and testimony, and by maliciously falsifying evidence, and 

12 presenting fabricated evidence to the court, and maliciously refusing to provide 

13 exculpatory evidence during the pendency of the dependency proceedings. 

	

14 
	

123. As the direct and proximate result of the aforementioned actions of Dr. 

15 I Stirling, Dr. Harris, Dr. Thomas, and DOES 1 through 50, and each of them, 

16 Plaintiff has suffered, and will continue to suffer, physical, mental, and emotional 

17 injury, all to an extent and in an amount subject to proof at trial. Plaintiff has also 

18 incurred, and will continue to incur, attorneys fees, costs and expenses, including 

19 those authorized by 42 U.S.C. Section 1988, to an extent and in an amount subject 

20 to proof at trial. 

	

21 
	

124. On information and belief, said defendants, and each of them, acted 

22 I with malice and with the intent to cause injury to Plaintiff, or acted with a willful 

23 and conscious disregard of the rights of Plaintiff in a despicable, vile, and 

24 contemptible manner. Therefore, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of punitive 

25 damages for the purpose of punishing Defendants and to deter them and others from 

26 such conduct in the future. 

27 I/I 

28 I/I 
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1 
	

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

2 
	

INVASION OF PRIVACY 

3 
	

COUNT 1 

4 
	

Intrusion into Private Affairs 

5 
	

By Plaintiff 

6 
	

Against Eddie Cruz; Tara Cruz; 

7 
	 and DOES 1 through 50, Inclusive 

8 
	

125. Plaintiff realleges, and to the extent applicable, incorporates herein as 

9 I if set forth in full, each of the foregoing paragraphs. 

10 
	

126. Plaintiff Christine Deeths has a reasonable expectation of privacy in the 

11 contents of her children's medical records and educational records, such that she, or 

12 I any other reasonable person, would not expect a foster parent, without any right or 

13 consent, to request and change the information contained in such records. 

14 
	

127. Within the past two (2) years, Tara Cruz, Eddie Cruz, and each of them, 

15 I intruded upon the privacy of Plaintiff's family by, but not limited to, changing the 

16 demographic information in certain medical records of R.D. and educational records 

17 of T.D. to misrepresent the extent of their authority over Plaintiff's children, and to 

18 purport to usurp Plaintiff's role as parent, all without Plaintiff's consent or any 

19 authorizing court order. 

20 
	

128. Said intrusions upon the family home and privacy interests of Plaintiff 

21 would be highly offensive to any reasonable person, and was, in fact, highly 

22 offensive to Plaintiff. 

23 
	

129. As the direct and proximate result of these defendants' dereliction of 

24 duty and invasion of privacy, Plaintiff has suffered, and will continue to suffer, 

25 physical, mental, and emotional injury, as well as monetarily, all to an extent and in 

26 an amount subject to proof at trial. Plaintiff has also incurred, and will continue to 

27 incur, attorneys fees, costs and expenses, to an extent and in an amount subject to 

28 proof at trial. 
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COUNT 2 

Public Disclosure of Private Facts 

By Plaintiff 

Against Legacy Family Services; Eddie Cruz; and Tara Cruz 

and DOES 1 through 50, Inclusive 

130. Plaintiff realleges, and to the extent applicable, incorporates herein as 

I if set forth in full, each of the foregoing paragraphs. 

131. Plaintiff Christine Deeths has a protected liberty interest in the privacy 

I and integrity of her immediate family, comprised of Christine Deeths and her two 

10 I children, T.D. and R.D. As part of said protected liberty interest, Plaintiff had a 

reasonable expectation of privacy over the facts concerning the seizure of her 

children by CPS, the ongoing juvenile dependency proceedings, R.D.'s medical 

history, and others, that were not widely known, and were in fact private. 

132. Within the past two (2) years, Legacy Family Services County, Tara 

I Cruz, Eddie Cruz, and each of them, intruded upon the privacy of Plaintiff's family 

by, but not limited to, disclosing to third parties that Christine Deeths was involved 

in a juvenile dependency proceeding, that her children were placed in the Cruz 

18 family home as foster children, that Christine Deeths suffered from a factitious 

19 disorder that resulted in abuse to T.D. and details of R.D.'s medical history. 

20 Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that on each such occasion, 

21 these Defendants identified Plaintiff and her children by their full names. 

22 Defendants, and each of them, knew that the information entrusted to them was 

23 private and confidential at the time of each such publication. 

24 
	

133. Said intrusions upon the family home and privacy interests of Plaintiff 

25 would be highly offensive to any reasonable person, and was, in fact, highly 

26 offensive to Plaintiff, in that nobody would want the badge or stigma of a child 

27 abuse investigation, or of ones complex medical conditions, or even of life in a 

28 foster home, to be the subject of widespread publicity, particularly when the facts 
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1 remained to be adjudicated in confidential proceedings. 

	

2 
	

134. Each and every act of mentioned above was carried out intentionally, 

3 I and with full knowledge of the probable consequences thereof, or with a reckless 

4 I disregard of the fact that a reasonable person in Plaintiff's position would consider 

5 I the publicity highly offensive, such that punitive damages should be imposed 

6 I against these defendants, and each of them. 

	

7 
	

135. As the direct and proximate result of these defendants' dereliction of 

8 I duty and invasion of privacy, Plaintiff has suffered, and will continue to suffer, 

9 physical, mental, and emotional injury, all to an extent and in an amount subject to 

10 proof at trial. Plaintiff has also incurred, and will continue to incur, attorneys fees, 

11 costs and expenses, to an extent and in an amount subject to proof at trial. 

	

12 
	

COUNT 3 

	

13 
	

False Light 

	

14 
	

By Plaintiff 

15 Against Bakersfield Memorial Hospital; Legacy Family Services; Eddie Cruz; 

	

16 
	 and Tara Cruz 

	

17 
	 and DOES 1 through 50, Inclusive 

	

18 
	

136. Plaintiff realleges, and to the extent applicable, incorporates herein as 

19 I if set forth in full, each of the foregoing paragraphs. 

	

20 : 	137. Plaintiff Christine Deeths has a protected liberty interest in the privacy 

21 I and integrity of her immediate family, comprised of Christine Deeths and her two 

22 children, T.D. and R.D. As part of said protected liberty interest, Plaintiff had a 

23 I reasonable expectation of privacy over the facts concerning the seizure of her 

24 children by CPS, the ongoing juvenile dependency proceedings, R.D.'s medical 

25 history, and others, that were not widely known, and were in fact private. 

	

26 
	

138. Within the past two (2) years, Legacy Family Services County, Tara 

27 I Cruz, Eddie Cruz, unknown employees of Bakersfield Memorial Hospital, and each 

28 of them, publicized information or material that showed Plaintiff in a false light, by 
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1 I falsely stating, among others, that Plaintiff Deeths had abused her children. 

2 I Defendants, and each of them, knew that the information entrusted to them was 

3 I private, confidential, and subject to the adjudicatory process, at the time of each 

4 I such publication. Said defendants, and each of them, knew each such publication 

5 I would create a false impression with the listener that Plaintiff abused her children. 

	

6 
	

139. As to the unknown DOE employees of Bakersfield Memorial Hospital 

7 I engaging in said conduct, Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that 

8 Cindy Walker, Michelle Pickenpaugh, Michael Watkins are individuals that 

9 received such false information, including that Plaintiff was addicted to 

10 methamphetamines and that she would show up to work at the hospital "so drunk 

11 she could not get through the door." 

	

12 
	

140. Each and every act mentioned hereinabove was carried out 

13 I intentionally, and with full knowledge of the probable consequences thereof, or with 

14 a reckless disregard of the fact that a reasonable person in Plaintiff's position would 

15 consider this false publicity highly offensive, such that punitive damages should be 

16 imposed against these defendants, and each of them. 

	

17 
	

141. As the direct and proximate result of these defendants' dereliction of 

18 I duty and invasion of privacy, Plaintiff has suffered, and will continue to suffer, 

19 physical, mental, and emotional injury, as well as damage to her reputation and 

20 consequent harm to her business and profession, all to an extent and in an amount 

21 subject to proof at trial. Plaintiff has also incurred, and will continue to incur, 

22 attorneys fees, costs and expenses, to an extent and in an amount subject to proof at 

23 trial. 

	

24 
	

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

	

25 
	

SLANDER 

	

26 
	

By Plaintiff 

	

27 
	

Against Legacy Family Services; Eddie Cruz; Tara Cruz; 

	

28 
	 and DOES 1 through 50, Inclusive 
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1 	142. Plaintiff realleges, and to the extent applicable, incorporates herein as 

2 if set forth in full, each of the foregoing paragraphs. 

3 	143. Within the past two (2) years, Defendants, Legacy Family Services, 

4 Eddie Cruz, Tara Cruz, and caused to be published false statements of or concerning 

5 Plaintiff to third parties. 

6 	144. Said third parties reasonably understood that the statements were about 

7 Plaintiff, and, further, reasonably took those statements to mean that Plaintiff 

8 suffered from a mental disorder and had abused her children. 

9 	145. The statements were false, and these Defendants knew of the falsity 

10 thereof at the time published, or failed to use reasonable care to determine the truth 

11 or falsity of the statements. 

12 	146. As a consequence of said conduct, Plaintiff is entitled to actual 

13 damages, for harm suffered to her property, business, trade, profession, or 

14 occupation; expenses paid as a result of the defamatory statements; harm to her 

15 reputation; as well as her shame, mortification, and humiliation. 

16 	147. Additionally, Plaintiff is entitled assumed damages, because each of 

17 these defendants knew that the statements published were false or had serious 

18 doubts about the truth of the statements, as well as punitive damages, because these 

19 defendants also acted with malice, oppression, or fraud. 

20 	 PRAYER 

21 	WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against DEFENDANTS as 

22 follows: 

23 	1. 	Plaintiff demand a jury trial as to the issues so triable; 

24 	2. 	General damages and special damages according to proof, but in no 

25 	 event less than $1,000,000; 

26 	3. 	As against only the individual defendants and not any municipality, 

27 	 punitive damages as allowed by law; 

28 	4. 	Attorneys fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, and any other appropriate 
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statute; 

5. Injunctive relief, both preliminary and permanent, as allowed by law, 

(including preliminary injunctive relief based upon a separate 

application to be filed after the presentation of evidence at trial); 

6. Costs of suit incurred herein; and 

7. Such further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated: December 28, 2012 THE LAW 	 ,APC 

StephéDDaner, Esq. 
Samuel H. Park, Esq. 
Attorneys for Plaintiff, 
CHRISTINE DEETHS 
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